# OFF-RESERVE Aboniginal



Business Case to Close the Socioeconomic Gaps for Off-Reserve Aboriginal People in British Columbia NOVEMBER 2011



BCAAFC BC ASSOCIATION OF ABORIGINAL FRIENDSHIP CENTRES

# Contents

Executive Summary3
Introduction5
Background6
On-Reserve versus Off-Reserve Investment6
The Role of Aboriginal Friendship Centres6
Unacceptable Social and Economic Outcomes for Off- Reserve Aboriginal People7
Poverty7
Unemployment7
Children Growing Up Without Their Parents7
Low High-school Graduation Rates8
Poor Health Outcomes8
Crime and Victimization8
Lack of Housing
Recommended Actions to Be Included In the ORAAP9
Managing Partnership9
Community Development Process9
Long-term Capacity Fund Investment in Friendship Centre
Ministry Service Plans10
Social and Economic Success Measures

# **Executive Summary**

British Columbia has the second largest off-reserve Aboriginal population in Canada. Over 70 per cent of the province's Aboriginal population live off of reserves, including almost two-thirds of B.C.'s Status First Nations population. B.C.'s Aboriginal population is the youngest and fastest growing group in the province. Within a ten-year period, the Aboriginal youth population doubled and the overall urban population grew by 33 per cent.

Aboriginal Friendship Centres are B.C.'s largest service delivery infrastructure for the off-reserve Aboriginal population. Established in the 1950s in response to the lifting of a federal travel ban that prohibited First Nations people from leaving their reserves, Friendship Centres have been a cultural and community hub for Aboriginal people moving into cities or rural areas for more than 60 years. Friendship Centres provide cultural resources, employment resources, health promotion and prevention services, counseling supports, and early childhood education and development services.

However, Friendship Centres are at the breaking point. Demands for service have more than doubled in the last decade. Core operating funds for Friendship Centres have not seen an increase in over 20 years, and in 2010, funding through the Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and Reconciliation's First Citizen's Fund was cut by a further 17 per cent.

Off-reserve Aboriginal people have some of the lowest social and economic outcomes in the province. For example, Aboriginal people are overrepresented in the jails, within the child welfare system, and are disproportionately living in poverty.

Despite all of this, there is no coordinated strategy in B.C. designed to improve socioeconomic conditions for this population group.

However, for the first time in the history of British Columbia, a commitment was made in this year's Official Speech from the Throne signaling a promise to establish a coordinated strategy for off-reserve Aboriginal peoples:

"The government will work with Aboriginal partners, the federal government and local governments to develop an off-reserve Aboriginal action plan to achieve better education and job training, healthier family life, and strengthened cultures and traditions"

This document presents the business case for the development of an offreserve Aboriginal Action Plan (ORAAP) that will close the socioeconomic gap for off-reserve Aboriginal people by five per cent in four years. Social and Economic conditions for off-reserve Aboriginal people can improve through a comprehensive ORAAP, based on a set of five key actions to occur over a period of four years:

- Establish a Provincial Managing Partnership (PMP) through a formal agreement between the Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and Reconciliation, Ministry of Children and Family Development, First Nations Leadership Council, and the BC Association of Aboriginal Friendship Centres.
- Establish a Community Development Process that will enable Aboriginal communities to build their own change agenda in collaboration with the Managing Partnership, based on B.C.'s social innovation "Change Lab" process.
- Invest in a Long-term Capacity Fund for B.C. Friendship Centres consisting of quarterly increases in a capacity investment over four years, totaling \$3.1M annually by year four.
- Align Ministry Service Plans within the B.C. Government's social ministries to actions identified in the ORAAP that will improve relations with off-reserve Aboriginal Peoples, as well as contribute to closing the socioeconomic gap by five per cent.
- Define and Implement Social and Economic Success Measures in partnership with all parties involved, to track progress and impact of the ORAAP and maximize effectiveness of investments into off-reserve Aboriginal communities.

# Introduction

British Columbia has the second largest off-reserve Aboriginal population in Canada<sup>1</sup>. Over 70 per cent of the province's Aboriginal population live off of reserves<sup>2</sup>, including almost two-thirds of B.C.'s Status First Nations population<sup>3</sup>.

Compared to the rest of British Columbians, social and economic outcomes for off-reserve Aboriginal people are some of the lowest in the province, and country. Yet there is no coordinated strategy in B.C. designed to improve socioeconomic conditions for off-reserve Aboriginal people.

However, for the first time in the history of British Columbia, a commitment was made in this year's Official Speech from the Throne signaling a promise to establish a coordinated strategy for off-reserve Aboriginal peoples:

"The government will work with Aboriginal partners, the federal government and local governments to develop an off-reserve Aboriginal action plan to achieve better education and job training, healthier family life, and strengthened cultures and traditions"<sup>4</sup>

This document presents the business case for the development of an offreserve Aboriginal Action Plan (ORAAP) that will close the socioeconomic gap for off-reserve Aboriginal people by five per cent in four years. Background data and context is provided, in addition to five proposed key actions forming the comprehensive ORAAP for more than 70 per cent of British Columbia's Aboriginal population.

# Background

#### **On-Reserve versus Off-Reserve Investment**

Throughout the last decade in British Columbia, commitments have been made towards addressing social and economic conditions exclusively for First Nations people living on-reserve, including:

- The 2006 Transformative Change Accord, established in part to "close the social and economic gap between First Nations and other British Columbians"<sup>5</sup>, and to "improve the quality of life of Aboriginal peoples in Canada"<sup>6</sup>
- The 2006 New Relationship Trust, a \$100M fund for projects within the areas of governance, education, culture and language, youth and elders, and economic development<sup>7</sup>.

Despite these investments, First Nations and Aboriginal people living off-reserve in B.C. are unable to access any of the funds aimed at improving social and economic conditions. Furthermore, Aboriginal people continue to migrate into urban areas, and the urban Aboriginal youth population has doubled over the past 10 years<sup>8</sup>.

#### The Role of Aboriginal Friendship Centres

Aboriginal Friendship Centres are the largest service delivery infrastructure for the more than 145,000 Aboriginal people living offreserve, and are the natural go-to place for social support, cultural resources, employment resources, health promotion and prevention services, counseling supports, and early childhood education and development services. Established in the 1950s in response to the lifting of a federal travel ban that prohibited First Nations people from leaving their reserves, Friendship Centres have been a cultural and community hub for Aboriginal people moving into cities or rural areas for more than 60 years. The importance of Friendship Centres has been recognized by:

- The United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Peoples (2010)<sup>9</sup>
- The Royal Commission of Aboriginal Peoples (1996)<sup>10</sup>.

Capacity funding for Friendship Centres in B.C. has not increased in 20 years. In 2010, an annual core funding allotment for B.C. Friendship Centres through the Province's First Citizens Fund (FCF) was cut by a further 17 per cent. Meanwhile, B.C.'s urban Aboriginal population has increased by 33 per cent over the last 10 years, and demand for service has more than doubled.

## Unacceptable Social and Economic Outcomes for Off-Reserve Aboriginal People

Aboriginal people face disproportionate risks and barriers to living long and healthy lives, including the lowest life expectancy and graduation rates, and some of the highest rates of suicide, addictions, unemployment, poverty, victimization and incarceration.

**Poverty:** The poverty rate for off-reserve Aboriginal people is almost double than the poverty rate for non-Aboriginal people in B.C.<sup>11</sup>. In 2008, almost two-thirds of off-reserve Aboriginal children in urban areas were living in low-income families<sup>12</sup>. Poverty has been directly correlated with compromised outcomes for Aboriginal children, such as significant risks to health, well-being, and increased vulnerability<sup>13</sup>.

**Unemployment:** Although Aboriginal people are the province's youngest and fastest growing population group<sup>14</sup> and thus are a significant resource for the future job market, unemployment rates have been more than double for Aboriginal people living off-reserve in B.C., compared to the rest of the population<sup>15</sup>.

**Children Growing Up Without Their Parents:** Aboriginal children are six times more likely to be taken into foster care than non-Aboriginal children<sup>16</sup>. In 2010, Aboriginal children in B.C. represented 54 per cent of the children in care, despite the fact they made up only 5 per cent of the population<sup>17</sup>. Furthermore, federal data shows that while approximately

5 per cent of First Nations children living on-reserve are in foster care, the rate of children in foster care residing off-reserve is estimated to be almost eight times higher<sup>18</sup>.

**Low High-school Graduation Rates:** In 2006, 33 per cent of Aboriginal people aged 25 to 64 had not completed high school, compared to 59 per cent of non-Aboriginal British Columbians<sup>19</sup>.

**Poor Health Outcomes:** Data available for First Nations people in British Columbia shows that the diabetes rate is 40 per cent higher than the general population. Life expectancy rates are 7 years shorter than those of other British Columbians<sup>20</sup>.

**Crime and Victimization:** By 2010, in a one-year period, 297 Aboriginal women were counted as missing or murdered in British Columbia. Most of these women were living off-reserve at the time of their death or disappearance. In Canada, Aboriginal women make up 3.9 per cent of the female population yet account for 29 per cent of female admissions to sentenced custody<sup>21</sup>.

**Lack of Housing:** There are significant housing shortages for Aboriginal people living off of the reserves in B.C.. Off-reserve housing shortages are connected in part to barriers such as income, inconsistent information about waitlists, and racially based discrimination<sup>22</sup>. 28 per cent of the total Aboriginal population is in core housing need compared to 16 per cent of the non-Aboriginal population.

# Recommended Actions to Be Included In the ORAAP

Social and Economic conditions for off-reserve Aboriginal people can improve through a comprehensive ORAAP, based on a set of five key actions to occur over a period of four years. Key actions are designed to significantly increase social stability and improve economic activity. Each key action would be accompanied by a set of outcome measures to track improvement in order to maximize effectiveness of investments into off-reserve Aboriginal communities.

## 1. Provincial Managing Partnership (PMP)

- Consists of an overarching formal agreement between Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and Reconciliation, Ministry of Children and Family Development, First Nations Leadership Council, and the BC Association of Aboriginal Friendship Centres (BCAAFC)
- Managing partnership will enable funding to flow directly into communities through building on existing initiatives and opportunities, and eliminating redundancies
- Relationships are built on cooperation and collaboration with shared values, vision, and goals

## 2. Community Development Process

- Enables Aboriginal communities to build their own change agenda in collaboration with the Managing Partnership
- Pilots within 3-4 communities
- Community Development Process is rooted in "Change Lab" Process - leveraging off of good work of Social Innovation Council, Government Non-profit Initiative, and Vancouver Foundation

## **3. Long-term Capacity Fund Investment in Friendship Centres**

- 25 per cent increase in capacity investment over four years, totaling \$3.1M annually by year four
- \$775,000 in year one, \$1.55M in year two, \$2.33M in year three, and \$3.1M in year four

## 4. Ministry Service Plans

- Social ministries across government would align their service plans with actions identified in the ORAAP
- Strategic actions and outcome measures could be developed to improve relations with off-reserve Aboriginal people that will contribute to closing the socioeconomic gap by five per cent.

## 5. Social and Economic Success Measures

- Clear set of outcomes, indicators and measures as defined by all parties involved that will track progress and close the socioeconomic gap by five per cent
- Outcomes aligned and fed into annual Transformative Change Accord report

<sup>1</sup> Statistics Canada (2006). 2006 Census: Aboriginal Peoples in Canada in 2006: Inuit, Métis, and First Nations, 2006 Census: First Nations People. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/as-sa/97-558/p16-eng.cfm</u>

<sup>2</sup> Statistics Canada (2006). 2006 Aboriginal Population Profile for BC. Retrieved on August 9, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/prof/92-</u>

594/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=PR&Code1=59&Geo2=PR&Code2=01&Data=Count&SearchText=British%20Columbia&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=&GeoCode=59

Statistics Canada (2006). 2006. Aboriginal Identity (3), Registered Indian Status (3), Age Groups (12), Sex (3) and Area of Residence (6) for the Population of Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved on August 11, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp-</u>

eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=89126&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0 & SHOWALL=0&SUB=734&Temporal=2006&THEME=73&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=

Statistics Canada (2006). Aboriginal Identity (3), Registered Indian Status (3), Age Groups (12), Sex (3) and Area of Residence (6) for the Population of Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved on August 16, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp</u>

eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=89126&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0 &SHOWALL=0&SUB=734&Temporal=2006&THEME=73&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=

<sup>3</sup> Statistics Canada (2006). 2006 Aboriginal Population Profile for BC. Retrieved on August 9, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/prof/92-</u>

594/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=PR&Code1=59&Geo2=PR&Code2=01&Data=Count&SearchText=British%20Columbia&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=&GeoCode=59

Statistics Canada (2006). 2006. Aboriginal Identity (3), Registered Indian Status (3), Age Groups (12), Sex (3) and Area of Residence (6) for the Population of Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved on August 11, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp-</u>

eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=89126&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0 &SHOWALL=0&SUB=734&Temporal=2006&THEME=73&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=

Statistics Canada (2006). Aboriginal Identity (3), Registered Indian Status (3), Age Groups (12), Sex (3) and Area of Residence (6) for the Population of Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved on August 16, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp</u>

eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=89126&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0 &SHOWALL=0&SUB=734&Temporal=2006&THEME=73&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=

<sup>4</sup> 2011 Legislative Session: 3<sup>rd</sup> Session, 39<sup>th</sup> Parliament. Speech from the Throne. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>http://www.leg.bc.ca/39th3rd/4-8-39-3.htm</u>

<sup>5</sup>Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and Reconciliation (2011). *Transformative Change Accord*. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>www.gov.bc.ca/arr/social/change.html</u>

<sup>6</sup> Gordon Campbell's statement on the New Relationship with Aboriginal Peoples, May 2011, as cited in Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and Reconciliation (2011). *Transformative Change Accord*. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>www.gov.bc.ca/arr/social/change.html</u>

<sup>7</sup> New Relationship Trust (2006). Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>www.newrelationshiptrust.ca/resources/annual-reports</u>

<sup>8</sup> BC Stats 1996 Census Fast Facts: Focus on BC Aboriginals living on/off Reserve. Retrieved on September 15, 2010 from: http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/cen96/facts/cff9613.pdf

*BC Stats 1996 Census Fast Facts. Focus on BC Aboriginals: A youthful population.* Retrieved on September 15, 2010 from: http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/cen96/facts/cff9611.pdf

Statistics Canada (2001). 2001: Aboriginal Identity (8), Age Groups (11B), Sex (3) and Area of Residence (7) for Population, for Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2001 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved on September 15, 2010 from:

http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/english/census01/products/standard/themes/RetrieveProductTable.cfm?Temporal=2001&PID=62715&GID=355323&METH=1 &APATH=3&PTYPE=55440&THEME=45&AID=0&FREE=0&FOCUS=0&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=&GC=0&GK=0&SC=1&SR=1&RL=0&CPP=99&R PP=9999&d1=3&d2=0

<sup>9</sup> United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (2010). *Report on the ninth session (19-30 April, 2010) Economic and Social Council Official Records, 2010, Supplement No.23*. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/E\_2010\_43\_EN.pdf</u>

<sup>10</sup> Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (1996).

<sup>11</sup> BC Stats (2006). British Columbia statistical profile of Aboriginal peoples 2006: Aboriginal peoples compared to the non-Aboriginal population with emphasis on labour market and post secondary issues. Retrieved on Sept 2, 2010 from: <u>http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/cen01/abor/aborbc.pdf</u>

<sup>11</sup> Statistics Canada (2008). *First Nations Children Under 6 years old living off-reserve – November 2008*. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from <a href="http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-634-x/89-634-x2008003-eng.pdf">http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-634-x/89-634-x2008003-eng.pdf</a>

<sup>13</sup>BC Representative for Children and Youth (2011). Fragile Lives, Fragmented Systems: Strengthening Supports for Vulnerable Infants: Aggregate Review of 21 Infant Deaths. Retrieved on Nov 2, 2011 from: <u>http://www.rcybc.ca/Images/PDFs/Reports/Fragile%20Lives%20-%20FINAL%20Jan%202011.pdf</u>

<sup>14</sup> Statistics Canada (2006). 2006 Aboriginal Peoples Profile. Retrieved on September 2, 2010 from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/prof/92-</u>

594/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=PR&Code1=59&Geo2=PR&Code2=01&Data=Count&SearchText=British%20Columbia&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=&GeoCode=59

Statistics Canada (2001). 2001 Aboriginal Population Profiles. Retrieved on September 2, 2010 from: http://www12.statcan.ca/english/profil01/AP01/Details/Page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=PR&Code1=59&Geo2=PR&Code2=01&Data=Count&SearchText=British %20Columbia&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=&GeoCode=59

BC Stats (1998). 1996 Census Fast Facts. Retrieved on September 2, 2010 from: http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/cen96/facts/cff9611.pdf

<sup>15</sup> BC Stats (2006). British Columbia statistical profile of Aboriginal peoples 2006: Aboriginal peoples compared to the non-Aboriginal population with emphasis on labour market and post secondary issues. Retrieved on Sept 2, 2010 from: <u>http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/cen01/abor/aborbc.pdf</u>

<sup>16</sup> Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia, *Management of Aboriginal Child Protection Services: Ministry of Children and Family Development* (Victoria: Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia, 2008). Available at: http://www.bcauditor.com/include/view\_file.asp?id=10&type=publication>.

<sup>17</sup> Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia, *Management of Aboriginal Child Protection Services: Ministry of Children and Family Development* (Victoria: Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia, 2008). Available at: http://www.bcauditor.com/include/view\_file.asp?id=10&type=publication>.

<sup>18</sup> Auditor General of British Columbia (2008). 2008/2009, *Report 3: Management of Aboriginal Child Protection Services: Ministry of Children and Family Development, May 2008*. Retrieved on January 23, 2010 from:www.bcauditor.com/pubs/subject/social-services

<sup>19</sup>Statistics Canada (2006). Highest Certificate, Diploma or Degree (14), Age Groups (10A) and Sex (3) for the Population 15 Years and Over of Canada, Provinces, Territories, Census Metropolitan Areas and Census Agglomerations, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp-</u>

eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=93609&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0 <u>&SHOWALL=0&SUB=0&Temporal=2006&THEME=75&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF</u>=Statistics Canada (2006). Aboriginal Ancestry (14), Area of Residence (6), Age Groups (8), Sex (3) and Selected Demographic, Cultural, Labour Force, Educational and Income Characteristics (227A), for the Total Population of Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-</u> recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp-

<u>eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=97445&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154</u> <u>&S=0&SHOWALL=0&SUB=0&Temporal=2006&THEME=73&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEE</u>=

<sup>20</sup> Provincial Health Officer (2007). Pathways to Health and Healing: 2<sup>nd</sup> Report on the Health and Well-being of Aboriginal people in British Columbia. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: <u>http://aboriginalactnow.ca/myfiles/abohlth11-var7.pdf</u>

First Nations Health Council (2011). *Funding Boost through Sport Legacy to Aboriginal Youth*. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: http://www.fnhc.ca/index.php/news/article/funding\_boost\_through\_sport\_legacy\_to\_aboriginal\_youth/

<sup>21</sup> Statistics Canada (2006). Aboriginal Identity (8), Area of Residence (6), Age Groups (12) and Sex (3) for the Population of Canada, Provinces and Territories, 2006 Census - 20% Sample Data. Retrieved from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rp-</u> eng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=89121&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0&SHOWALL=0&SU B=0&Temporal=2006&THEME=73&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=

Statistics Canada (2006). Age (123) and Sex (3) for the Population of Canada, Provinces, Territories, Census Metropolitan Areas and Census Agglomerations, 2001 and 2006 Censuses - 100% Data. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/tbt/Rpeng.cfm?TABID=1&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=88984&PRID=0&PTYPE=88971,97154&S=0&SHOWALL=0&SU B=0&Temporal=2006&THEME=66&VID=0&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=

Prison Justice (2011). Prison Facts. Retrieved on Oct 31, 2011 from: www.vcn.bc.ca/august10/politics/facts\_stats.html

<sup>22</sup> BC Representative for Children and Youth (2011). Fragile Lives, Fragmented Systems: Strengthening Supports for Vulnerable Infants: Aggregate Review of 21 Infant Deaths. Retrieved on Nov 2, 2011 from: <u>http://www.rcybc.ca/Images/PDFs/Reports/Fragile%20Lives%20-%20FINAL%20Jan%202011.pdf</u>



200-7725 Tetayut Road Victoria, BC V8M 2C3

Phone250-388-5522Toll Free1-800-990-2432Fax250-388-5502

www.bcaafc.com